# POLICY BRIEF December 2023



## **BOSNIA-HERZEGOVINA**

HOW TO BUILD A VIABLE ROAD TO EU MEMBERSHIP

### **ABSTRACT**

Since its beginning with the Stabilisation and Association Agreement in 2005, Bosnia-Herzegovina's EU path has been marred by the country's unwillingness to gather the necessary political consensus to adopt the reforms needed to improve its functionality, its rule of law and its democratic standard. This feature has proved itself true throughout BiH's EU journey. The lim"its of conditionality have been overcome by Brussels' and the member states' several decisions to lower the bar and allow Sarajevo to go further. The 2022 decision by the Commission and the Council to grant BiH the candidate status stems from almost purely geopolitical considerations, rather than from the effort of Bosnian institutions to reform. The same will most likely be true when, in March 2024, the Commission might recommend the Council for the opening of accession negotiations.

### **AUTHORS**

### **DARIO D'URSO**

International relations analyst with focus on the political dynamics of the Western Balkans

### **LADA VETRINI**

Senior expert in cohesion policy, with a focus on European territorial cooperation in the Adriatic-Ionian region



IN PARTNERSHIP WITH







# THE FOUNDATION FOR EUROPEAN PROGRESSIVE STUDIES (FEPS)

European Political Foundation - N° 4 BE 896.230.213 Avenue des Arts 46 1000 Brussels (Belgium) www.feps-europe.eu @FEPS\_Europe

## RI Renner Institut

### **Renner Institut**

Karl-Popper-Straße 8 A-1100 Vienna www.renner-institut.at Twitter/Instagram: @RennerInstitut



### **CeSPI**

Piazza Venezia, 11 00187 Roma (ITALY) www.cespi.it | Twitter: @CeSPI\_Roma



This Policy Brief was produced with the financial support of the European Parliament. It does not represent the view of the European Parliament.

Front page photo: Alexandros Michailidis/Shutterstock.com

Page layout: Hanno Schreiber

Copyright: FEPS

KBR deposit number: D/2023/15396./46

ISBN: 978-2-931233-58-0

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Introduction	4
The road towards (prospective) membership	4
The 2019 Opinion and the 14 Key Priorities	6
Candidate status and geopolitical momentum'	7
Conclusion	8
Annex: The 14 Key Priorities from the 2019 Opinion of the European Commission	9
Endnotes1	17
Bibliography1	2
About the authors	4
About FEPS1	5
About the Karl-Renner-Institute1	5
About CeSPI	5

### Introduction

In November 2023, the European Commission issued its annual Progress Report on Bosnia-Herzegovina (BiH), dashing in part the hopes that Sarajevo could keep enjoying the positive momentum triggered by the strong impulse to Ukraine, Moldova and Georgia's EU aspiration. While BiH was granted candidate status by the Council in December 2022, together with two of the three above-mentioned former Soviet republics, this time the Commission did not recommend for the Council to open negotiations, stressing that this will happen "once the necessary degree of compliance with the membership criteria is achieved".1 Such a sentence encompasses much of the troubled path BiH has been experiencing on its way to becoming an EU member state, with a series of problematic issues that are making this journey even more complicated than those of the other Western Balkan countries. Given the current domestic context, the prospect of a BiH's EU membership looks difficult to reach in the short and medium term. The 2030 threshold unofficially suggested by the European Council President Charles Michel as the entry date for the Western Balkan countries seems quite unrealistic from Sarajevo's perspective. The issue is, therefore, what needs to be done in order to create a viable prospect for Bosnia's EU membership, one that takes into consideration the aspirations of its citizens before disillusion over Sarajevo's European future becomes irreversible.

## The road towards (prospective) membership

The EU acknowledged for the first time the prospect of membership for the Western Balkan countries at the EU-Western Balkans summit in Thessaloniki in June 2003, by adopting a declaration stating that "the future

of the Balkans is within the European Union".2 The Declaration, a watershed moment in the history of the Union and of its enlargement, came at a time when all the Western Balkan countries had already entered the Stabilisation and Association Process (SAP), an EU initiative launched in 1999, which established the first legal and political ties between the region and the EU. At the EU summit in Santa Maria da Feira in 2000, it was confirmed that all participants in the Process were potential candidates for membership. A few months later, at the EU-Western Balkans Summit in Zagreb (the first of its kind), the countries of the region were invited to join the EU. At the Thessaloniki summit, however, an extremely important step forward was taken, signalling the readiness of the EU to guarantee the European perspective for the region, therefore giving a stronger initial impetus to the implementation of the necessary reforms.



The troubled path of the Stabilisation and Association Agreement provides a relevant example of the limits of EU conditionality when applied to the Bosnian context, both as regards the extent of the requests and the political and technical ability to satisfy them by BiH's several layers of governance.



BiH began its long (and yet unfinished) journey with a stalemate, namely on the approval of the Stabilisation and Association Agreement (SAA). The SAA is the first legal step into accession for the Western Balkans, which creates a contractual relationship for enhanced cooperation in various fields, to strengthen their administrative capacities and prepare the ground for the political and economic reforms aimed to equip the country for future integration. The troubled path of the Stabilisation and

Association Agreement provides a relevant example of the limits of EU conditionality when applied to the Bosnian context, both as regards the extent of the requests and the political and technical ability to satisfy them by BiH's several layers of governance.

The technical negotiations on the SAA between BiH and the EU were launched in November 2005 and successfully concluded in December 2006: however, the conditionality applied for its signature - the reform of BiH's police bodies, aiming at their unification - stalled the process, as Republika Srpska strongly opposed to relinguish its own police and to transfer lawenforcement competencies to the State level. While the SAA was initiated in December 2007, a watered-down agreement on the police reform, establishing a joint police coordination body (but not the unification initially sought after) was finally achieved in April 2008, allowing for the signature of the agreement later in June. The ratification,<sup>3</sup> however, proved to be as complicated as the signature, with several EU member states making it conditional to the implementation of further reforms by BiH, especially the constitutional reform needed to eliminate the discrimination against voters not belonging to one of the three main constituent peoples (Bosniaks, Serbs and Croats) to run for elections to the State level Presidency and House of Peoples, as dictated by the 2009 European Court of Human Rights 'Sejdić and Finci' ruling.4 The inability of Bosnian political actors to find a suitable institutional solution to the issue, notwithstanding the degree of international pressure, led to a stalemate even when, in 2011, all EU member states had ratified the SAA with BiH. Only in June 2015, BiH managed to see the SAA entering into force,5 following a Germany and the United Kingdom's initiative to unblock the situation by accepting only a 'Declaration' to implement the constitutional reforms. As was the case with

the police reform, using 'Sejdić and Finci' as a condition to finally have the SAA in motion proved the EU and the international community wrong; so when the cost of leaving BiH out of the EU trail got too high, a backtracking became unavoidable.

Another initiative followed the German and British push to have the SAA adopted and implemented, the so-called Reform Agenda 2015-2018, also adopted by BiH authorities in late 2014. The aim of this new strategic approach was to apply political and economic conditionality, through the involvement of the World Bank and the International Monetary Fund, to advance a set of reforms aimed to establish a stable macroeconomic environment and boost economic grow encompassing areas such as labor market, state-owned enterprises, public administration reform and rule of law, in order to hit the foundations of the patronage system that plagued Bosnia's economic and social development for decades. The completion of the Reform Agenda was meant as yet another condition for Bosnia-Herzegovina to be able to submit its application for EU membership. However, as it was the case in the past, after less than two years the EU lowered its conditions from full implementation of the Reform Agenda to 'meaningful progress', a synonym for soft conditionality in EU terminology.

Such difficulties in building a domestic consensus on adopting the necessary reforms to advance on its European path did not prevent BiH to submit its application for EU membership in February 2016, following a quarrel on the approval of the Coordination Mechanism, a venue for approving EU-related issues putting together State and entities' governments. In December, the Commission handed over the accession Questionnaire to Bosnian authorities, hoping for a quick reply. The Questionnaire served as the main basis for the Commission

to prepare an Opinion on whether BiH had the necessary capacities to meet the Copenhagen criteria and all other institutional, economic and financial obligations deriving from EU membership, and therefore could be granted the status of candidate for accession. The Ouestionnaire for BiH consisted of more than 3,200 questions, divided into the 33 chapters of the EU acquis. Replying to all of them proved to be a daunting task for Bosnian several layers of governance. Instead of the expected six to seven months, the whole process of putting the answers together and have the political green light from the Coordination Mechanism (i.e., overcoming Republika Srpska's vetoes) took 14 months, way longer than for any other Western Balkan country wishing to apply for membership. In February 2018 the Bosnian government finally handed over the replies to the Questionnaire, only to receive later in June an additional set of more than 600 follow-up questions, most of them referred to political criteria, social policy and employment, but also to the issues of justice, freedom and security. The Bosnian government needed nine months to provide the additional replies, going beyond the provisional agreed deadlines, and leaving around 20 questions still unanswered. This was deemed satisfactory by the European Commission, which brought the process forward by publishing in May of the same year its Opinion on Bosnia-Herzegovina's EU membership application and a more detailed Analytical Report, a document that currently represents both the baseline and the roadmap for Sarajevo's European aspirations.

## The 2019 Opinion and the 14 Key Priorities

The Opinion highlighted the heavy doubts the Commission had about BiH's preparedness to become an EU member state. Instead of recommending to the Council the granting of

the candidate status, as hoped for by Bosnian political elites wishing to electorally cash in any eventual success, the Commission made such step conditional to the implementation of 14 Key Priorities, encompassing matters related to democracy and the functionality of institutions, rule of law, fundamental rights and the reform of the public administration.6 Some of these steps were framed in vague wording, allowing for a potential political interpretation of their achievement - this is the case of Key Priority 5, asking for the adoption of "concrete" steps to promote an environment conducive to reconciliation in order to overcome the legacies of the war", Key Priority 4c calling for "quaranteeing the independence of the judiciary", or Key Priority 4d on the "reform of the Constitutional Court, including addressing the issue of foreign judges". Others are more prescriptive in content, as well as demanding, given the Bosnian context, like Key Priority 1 asking that "elections are conducted in line with European standards by implementing OSCE/ODIHR and relevant Venice Commission recommendations", Key Priority 4b on the introduction of a "substitution clause to allow the State to exercise competencies of other levels of government", Key Priority 4e on the "establishment of a judicial body entrusted the consistent interpretation of the law throughout BiH"and Key Priority 7, calling among other things for the adoption of legislation on conflict of interest and public procurement. The necessity for Bosnia to implement the 14 Key Priorities is linked to a core issue underlined by the 2019 Commission's Opinion: "identified functionality issues within Bosnia and Herzegovina, notably related to the internal decision-making process as well as uncertainty and overlaps between the country's various levels of government over a number of competences could negatively affect the decision-making process at EU level, particularly for matters requiring unanimity amongst EU Member States". The Commission



In 2022, geopolitics replaced conditionality, as the Council endorsed the Commission recommendation to grant the candidate status to Bosnia-Herzegovina.



stressed that "Bosnia and Herzegovina should therefore engage in a process to address functionality issues in order to comply with EU membership requirements and take on its related obligations".

While Bosnian political elites managed to take the list of challenging Key Priorities as a victory for the ethnic constituencies they represented, very few concrete steps were taken to transform deeds into action, namely transforming into actual legislation the calls by the Commission to substantially improve BiH's institutional, judicial and civic settings. Notwithstanding a relatively swift formation of a new government at the State level following the October 2022 elections, the pace of implementation remained extremely slow, even though political leaders from all ethnic constituencies stressed their commitment to Bosnia's EU path.

## Candidate status and geopolitical momentum

In 2022, geopolitics replaced conditionality, as the Council endorsed the Commission recommendation to grant the candidate status to Bosnia-Herzegovina. Such leap did not come from any impressive acceleration by local stakeholders on the completion of the 2019 Key Priorities' list, but from the deep change in the European geopolitics stemming from the Russian invasion of Ukraine. The bold decision by the Commission to stress the

belonging of Ukraine, Moldova and Georgia<sup>7</sup> to the European family by recommending to the Council the granting of candidate status for EU membership, following these countries' applications in early 2022, made leaving Bosnia out in the cold politically untenable. Therefore, notwithstanding the lack of any meaningful progress on the Key Priorities, the Commission and the Council included Sarajevo alongside Kyiv, Chisinău and Tbilisi in the list with the other candidate countries (Serbia, Montenegro, North Macedonia, Albania and Turkey). A political decision which, however, did not take into consideration the ongoing stalemate in Bosnia's reform efforts: notwithstanding the "Political agreement on principles for ensuring a functional Bosnia and Herzegovina that advances on the European path" signed by the country's institutional and political leaders in June 2022 and the first meeting of the High-Level Political Forum in May 2023, the picture remained bleak, as stressed in the 2023 Commission's Report Bosnia-Herzegovina. The document stresses the lack of any meaningful progress on the Key Priorities, with only two out of 14 deemed as completed and no sign of overall political consensus, especially when it comes to Republika Srpska, where the situation was made worse by President Milorad Dodik's attacks against the constitutional order and civil liberties. The 2023 Report acknowledges the absence of any step forward, while recommending the "opening of EU accession negotiations with Bosnia-Herzegovina once the necessary degree of compliance with the membership criteria is achieved", stressing the need "to apply further efforts to fulfil the Key Priorities set out in the Opinion", and adding that the Commission "will monitor the progress and compliance in all areas related to the opening of negotiations and report to the Council at the latest in March 2024". This formulation helps the Commission avoid rewarding the Bosnian authorities for their insufficient commitment to the reform process while simultaneously trying not to hinder the geopolitical 'momentum for enlargement'.

### Conclusion

The progress made by Bosnia-Herzegovina in the last year - the granting of candidate status and the conditions put forward for the opening of accession negotiations - are the result of the new geopolitical circumstances in Europe, rather than a sincere effort to reform the institutional setting of the country and remove political discriminations. Given the current political climate, it seems overambitious that Bosnian authorities could substantially improve the country's reform track for the time - March 2024 - the Commission will have to report to the Council on the viability of opening accession negotiations. The Commission has somehow thrown the ball in the Council's court when it comes to decide how to proceed with Bosnia-Herzegovina's European path, leaving it therefore to purely political (and geopolitical) considerations. While some member states support the idea of opening the negotiations even without the completion of the Key Priorities (for example, Slovenia, Austria and Croatia), others are worried about yet another lowering of the threshold by rewarding Sarajevo notwithstanding the deterioration of the rule of law and the political situation, whereas the granting of candidate status in 2022 should have produced the opposite. As the situation stands now, it looks unlikely that Bosnia-Herzegovina could become an EU member state in the short-to-medium term. The cumbersome institutional structure given to the country by the Dayton Peace Agreement in 1995 does not represent, per se, an obstacle to coagulate a true political will behind reforms, while the opposite is true: the lack of political will by the country's ethnic-based parties is reinforced by the several layers of government and potential vetoes. The question of how to build such political will in BiH, and how to go beyond the usual lip service local politicians play in Brussels, is therefore crucial. Even though the main cause of any stalemate on BiH's EU path is usually Republika Srpska President Dodik, almost all other ethnic political leaders would see their systems of patronage wiped out by the reforms the EU is asking to implement, and civic alternatives remain too timid and electorally weak to push for any EU-related progress. In order to change such negative dynamics and to break this decades-long political vicious circle, a bolder and more vocal approach is needed by the EU and those member states pushing for BiH's European path. Direct appeals to BiH citizens, naming and shaming those who are holding the country's potentialities, a focus on the opportunities Bosnian voters are losing by the day by supporting the same ethnopolitical actors who have been in power more or less since the end of the war: these outreach strategies might help in turning the tide of Bosnian zero-sum game politics and allow the country to advance on its journey towards EU membership.

# Annex: The 14 Key Priorities from the 2019 Opinion of the European Commission

### **Democracy / Functionality**

- Ensure that elections are conducted in line with European standards by implementing OSCE/ODIHR and relevant Venice Commission recommendations, ensuring transparency of political party financing, and holding municipal elections in Mostar.
- 2. Ensure a track record in the functioning at all levels of the coordination mechanism on EU matters including by developing and adopting a national programme for the adoption of the EU acquis.
- 3. Ensure the proper functioning of the Stabilisation and Association Parliamentary Committee.
- 4. Fundamentally improve the institutional framework, including at constitutional level, in order to:
  - a) Ensure legal certainty on the distribution of competences across levels of government;
  - Introduce a substitution clause to allow the State upon accession to temporarily exercise competences of other levels of government to prevent and remedy breaches of EU law;
  - Guarantee the independence of the judiciary, including its self-governance institution (HJPC);
  - Reform the Constitutional Court, including addressing the issue of international judges, and ensure enforcement

- of its decisions;
- e) Guarantee legal certainty, including by establishing a judicial body entrusted with ensuring the consistent interpretation of the law throughout Bosnia and Herzegovina;
- f) Ensure equality and non-discrimination of citizens, notably by addressing the Sejdić-Finci ECtHR case law;
- g) Ensure that all administrative bodies entrusted with implementing the acquis are based only upon professionalism and eliminate veto rights in their decision-making, in compliance with the acquis.
- 5. Take concrete steps to promote an environment conducive to reconciliation in order to overcome the legacies of the war.

### **Rule of Law**

- Improve the functioning of the judiciary by adopting new legislation on the High Judicial and Prosecutorial Council and of the Courts of Bosnia and Herzegovina in line with European standards.
- 7. Strengthen the prevention and fight against corruption and organised crime, including money laundering and terrorism, notably by:
  - a) adopting and implementing legislation on conflict of interest and whistleblowers' protection;
  - ensuring the effective functioning and coordination of anti-corruption bodies;
  - c) align the legislation and strengthen capacities on public procurement;

- d) ensuring effective cooperation among law enforcement bodies and with prosecutors' offices;
- e) demonstrating progress towards establishing a track record of proactive investigations, confirmed indictments, prosecutions and final convictions against organised crime and corruption, including at high-level;
- de-politicising and restructuring public enterprises and ensuring transparency of privatisation processes.
- 8. Ensuring effective coordination, at all levels, of border management and migration management capacity, as well as ensuring the functioning of the asylum system.

### **Fundamental Rights**

- 9. Strengthen the protection of the rights of all citizens, notably by ensuring the implementation of the legislation on non-discrimination and on gender equality.
- 10. Ensure the right to life and prohibition of torture, notably by (a) abolishing the reference to death penalty in the Constitution of the Republika Srpska entity and (b) designate a national preventive mechanism against torture and ill-treatment.
- 11. Ensure an enabling environment for civil society, notably by upholding European standards on freedom of association and freedom of assembly.
- 12. Guarantee freedom of expression and of the media and the protection of journalists, notably by (a) ensuring the appropriate judicial follow-up to cases of threats and violence against journalists and media

- workers, and (b) ensuring the financial sustainability of the public broadcasting system.
- 13. Improve the protection and inclusion of vulnerable groups, in particular persons with disabilities, children, LGBTI persons, members of the Roma community, detainees, migrants and asylum seekers, as well as displaced persons and refugees in line with the objective of closure of Annex VII of the Dayton Peace Agreement.

### **Public Administration Reform**

14. Complete essential steps in public administration reform towards improving the overall functioning of the public administration by ensuring a professional and de-politicised civil service and a coordinated countrywide approach to policy making.

### **Endnotes**

- 1 https://neighbourhood-enlargement.ec.europa.eu/news/commission-adopts-2023-enlargement-package-recommends-open-negotiations-ukraine-and-moldova-grant-2023-11-08\_en.
- 2 https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/PRES\_03\_163.
- 3 To enter into effect, the SAA needed to be ratified by all EU Member States and by BiH.
- 4 https://hudoc.echr.coe.int/eng?i=001-96495.
- 5 An Interim Agreement, containing mostly the trade-related clauses of the SAA, had already entered into force following the SAA signature in 2008.
- 6 See the annex for the complete list of the 14 Key Priorities
- 7 In late 2022, Georgia was given a conditional green light for the candidate status, which was obtained only in 2023.

### **Bibliography**

- European Commission ("Remarks by Commissioner Várhelyi at the joint press conference with Borjana Krišto, Chairwoman of the Council of Ministers of Bosnia and Herzegovina, after the first meeting of the High-Level Political Forum in Bosnia and Herzegovina", 17 May 2023; https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/speech\_23\_2811
- European Council, "Political agreement on principles for ensuring a functional Bosnia and Herzegovina that advances on the European path", 12 June 2022; https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-releases/2022/06/12/political-agreement-on-principles-for-ensuring-a-functional-bosnia-and-herzegovina-that-advances-on-the-european-path/
- Wilhelmine Preussen, "European Commission recommends candidate status for Bosnia and Herzegovina", Politico, 12 October 2022; https://www.politico.eu/article/european-commission-recommends-eu-candidate-status-for-bosnia-and-herzegovina/
- Istinomjer (2023), "The Government and 14 priorities from the EC's Opinion: Some want all or nothing, and others opt for a step by step", Medium, 26 June; https://medium.com/@istinomjer/the-government-and-14-priorities-from-the-ecs-opinion-some-want-all-or-nothing-and-others-opt-6f8d42fcff45
- Lopez Domenech, B. (2023) "Bosnia's 2023 Commission report: A lack of strategic steering and the buck passed to the Council", European Policy Centre, 16 November; https://www.epc.eu/en/publications/Bosnias-2023-Commission-report-A-lack-of-strategic-steering-and-the~55bd38
- Sorgi, G. (2023) "What the Western Balkans expect from the EU", Politico, 7 November; https://www.politico.eu/newsletter/brussels-playbook/what-the-western-balkans-expect-from-the-eu/
- Al Jazeera Balkans (2023), "Slovenija, Hrvatska i Austrija za pristupne pregovore Unije s BiH", 23 October; https://balkans.aljazeera.net/news/balkan/2023/10/25/slovenija-hrvatska-i-austrija-za-pristupne-pregovore-unije-s-bih
- European Western Balkans (2016), "BiH answers to the European Commission questionnaire", 6 April; https://europeanwesternbalkans.com/2016/04/06/bih-answers-to-the-european-commission-questionnaire/
- European Western Balkans (2017), "Zvizdić briefed Ambassador Wigemark on the process of answering the EC questionnaire", 20 January; https://europeanwesternbalkans.com/2017/01/20/zvizdic-briefed-ambassador-wigemark-on-the-process-of-answering-the-ecquestionnaire/
- European Western Balkans (2017), "[EWB Interview] Ćerimagić: Questionnaire the first thing EU did right in BiH in 10 years", 20 December; https://europeanwesternbalkans.com/2017/12/20/ewb-interview-cerimagic-questionnaire-first-thing-eu-right-bih-10-years/

- European Western Balkans (2018), "BiH leaders hand answered Questionnaire to Juncker", 28 February; https://europeanwesternbalkans.com/2018/02/28/bih-leaders-hand-answered-questionnaire-juncker/
- Weber, B. (2018) "The EU's Failing Policy Initiative for Bosnia and Herzegovina", DPC; http://www.democratizationpolicy.org/summary/the-eu-s-failing-policy-initiative-for-bih/
- Kovacevic, D. (2019) "Bosnia Leaves Gaps in Answers to EU Questionnaire", Balkan Insight, 4 March; https://balkaninsight.com/2019/03/04/bosnia-leaves-gaps-in-answers-to-eu-questionnaire/
- Toe, R. (2016) "Bosnia Files EU Membership Application", Balkan Insight, 15 February; https://balkaninsight.com/2016/02/15/bosnia-submits-its-eu-application-02-15-2016/

### About the authors



### Dario D'Urso

Dario D'Urso is an international relations analyst with a focus on the political dynamics of the Western Balkans. He has worked for think tanks, government agencies and international organisations, including the Council of Europe and the office of the EU Special Representative for Bosnia-Herzegovina.



### Lada Vetrini

Lada Vetrini is a senior expert in the cohesion policy cooperation instruments, with a particular focus on the Adriatic-Ionian region and European territorial cooperation funding mechanisms. Her collaboration extends to working closely with INTERREG fund governing bodies in the EUSAIR area, contributing to various stages of the programme lifecycle – from strategic planning of policy objectives to implementing and evaluating interventions.

### **About FEPS**

The Foundation for European Progressive Studies (FEPS) is the think tank of the progressive political family at EU level. Its mission is to develop innovative research, policy advice, training and debates to inspire and inform progressive politics and policies across Europe.

FEPS works in close partnership with its 68 members and other partners -including renowned universities, scholars, policymakers and activists-, forging connections among stakeholders from the world of politics, academia and civil society at local, regional, national, European and global levels.

European Political Foundation - N° 4 BE 896.230.213 | Avenue des Arts 46 1000 Brussels (Belgium)

www.feps-europe.eu | Twitter/Instagram: @FEPS\_Europe | Facebook: @FEPSEurope

### About the Karl-Renner-Institute

The Karl-Renner-Institute is the political academy of the Austrian Social Democratic Party. It is a forum for political discourse, a centre for education and training and a think tank on the future of social democracy.

www.renner-institut.at | Twitter/Instagram: @RennerInstitut | Facebook: @renner.institut

#### **About CeSPI**

CeSPI is an independent and non-profit think tank performing research and policy-oriented analysis studies, providing advice, evaluations and training on many subjects relevant to international relations. Recognised by the Italian Ministry of Foreign Affairs and International Cooperation, it is member of a wide variety of international networks.

www.cespi.it | Twitter: @CeSPI\_Roma

### **ON SIMILAR TOPICS**







